THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-001117

Lisa Gilliard on behalf of
Marvin Gilliard, deceased,

Appellant,

v.

City of Greenville,
Employer, and Self-Insurer,
and Hewitt, Coleman &
Associates, Inc., TPA

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joe Mooneyham, S.C. Bar No. 004041
Joshua T. Hawkins, S.C. Bar No.078470
Mooneyham Berry, LLC
Post Office Box 8359
Greenville, South Carolina 29604
864.421.0036 Fax 864.421.9060
joe@mbllc.com
josh@mbllc.com
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED
DEC 30 2013
SC Court of Appeals

Statement of the Issue On Appeal

The Circuit Court erred when it affirmed the Appellate Panel's denial of Lisa Gilliard's occupational disease claim arising from the death of her husband, Greenville City Police Officer Marvin Gilliard, because the Appellate Panel's denial is unsupported by "substantial evidence."

Statement of the Case

Marvin Gilliard timely filed a Form 50, alleging that he had suffered a compensable occupational injury while employed as a police officer for the City of Greenville, having been diagnosed with interstitial pneumonitis, allegedly as a result of exposure to toxic chemicals. Specifically, he alleged that exposures to toxic chemicals during repeated routine foot patrols through an abandoned building within the city had caused his pulmonary disease. The City filed a Form 51, denying that Gilliard had suffered a compensable injury. Subsequently, Gilliard's illness worsened, and he died. His wife, Lisa Gilliard, was substituted and filed a Form 52, alleging that her husband's death had been caused by his chemical exposure and occupational disease. The City filed a responsive Form 53, again denying the claim.

South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commissioner Derrick Williams held a hearing in this matter on April 26, 2011, and a Decision and Order was filed June 20, 2011, finding that Marvin Gilliard had suffered a compensable injury under South Carolina Workers' Compensation law, and awarded survivor's benefits to Lisa Gilliard. Within the statutory period, counsel for the City filed the City's Form 30, a Request for Commission Review. The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Appellate Review Panel heard the City's request for review on November 24, 2011, and entered its Order January 13, 2012, reversing Commissioner Williams and finding in favor of the City. This appeal followed, and on March 4, 2013 the Honorable Edward W. Miller heard Ms. Gilliard's appeal. Judge Miller affirmed the Appellate Review

Panel's findings by Order filed on April 23, 2013, and this appeal followed. Ms. Gilliard served Notice of Appeal on the City on May 22, 2013.

Facts

Marvin Gilliard began working for the City of Greenville as a police officer in 1996. (ROA 339). As an officer, he mainly worked by himself. (ROA 350). Around 2002-2003, he was assigned to an area known as Southern Side. (ROA 373). As part of patrolling the Southern Side area, he was assigned to monitor a building at 104 South Hudson Street. (ROA 372). He was supposed to keep homeless people from loitering in that building. (ROA 372). While assigned to this area, part of his job was to check this building daily—in fact, Lieutenant Randy Evitt called Gilliard's lieutenant and “told him to make sure that [he] check[ed] that building every day.” (ROA 7375-376). When Gilliard inspected the building, it could take an hour, or longer if vagrants were discovered in the building. (ROA 379-380). When asked to describe the building, Gilliard stated that it was very dirty, that the floors looked oily, and that he noticed a white powder in some areas. (ROA 382). There were also steel drums that contained oil or “something that looked like oil.” (ROA 382). A rusted out water tank was also present. (ROA 382). Lisa Gilliard, Marvin Gilliard's wife, also recalled a strange odor on his police uniforms while she did laundry on the days that he patrolled the abandoned building. (ROA 100).

The City of Greenville maintains computer records which capture the movement or activity of officers when they call dispatch. (ROA 18). Greenville City police officers were typically required to call in to dispatch when leaving a patrol car. (ROA 114). The City of Greenville has redundant systems which capture officers' movement or activity when they call dispatch to advise they are outside their patrol vehicle in at least three separate databases. (ROA 18). Either these records or an officer's testimony could be used to locate the officer or

determine his activity. (ROA 117). Calls were not always required as well—Gilliard testified that because he was assigned to the area that included 104 S. Hudson Street, that he “did not have to get a call. It was part of [his] job to check it every day.” (ROA 375). He also would not call dispatch if he stopped to assist another patrol car that was already present at the building. (ROA 388). The police department recognized that a lack of documentary evidence would not be conclusive on the question whether an officer was in a building. (ROA 118-119). Further, a report is not necessarily generated by an officer unless official police action was taken. (ROA 119). Additionally, if an officer was on foot patrol, he could easily walk a couple of blocks without calling in as to his exact location. (ROA 138) The police department recognized that its officers did not radio in their exact location at all times. (ROA 141).

When Gilliard was employed at the City, when an officer did radio in his location, a police dispatch employee would enter the call information. (ROA 147). Information about an officer’s location and activity could be logged in both county and city systems. (ROA 145). If information was missing from a report, it could be a dispatch error, or that “the computer ate it.” (ROA 145.) For these reasons, the City acknowledges that its officers are the best source of information regarding what they are doing on patrol. (ROA 153).

After his time patrolling the Southern Side ended, Gilliard was assigned as a resource officer at J.L. Mann High School, which is when he began to have breathing problems. (ROA 350). Toward the end of 2006, he failed the physical fitness test required by the Greenville City Police Department. (ROA 360-361). He was placed on light duty in May 2007, and continued light duty until his disability retirement on September 5, 2007 due to interstitial pneumonitis. (ROA 351).

Gilliard was not a smoker and was in good health until his breathing issues developed.

(ROA 58). Although he had a prior history of a positive PPD (tuberculosis) test in the past, during a later 1996 visit to the Woodward Medical Center his physical examination showed “respirations are normal” and “chest [is] completely clear.” (ROA 262). The first complaint of breathing problems in the record is during a July 21, 2006 visit to Woodward Medical Center, at which Gilliard complained of troubled breathing and a bit of congestion. (ROA 262). The diagnosis was allergies or possibly asthma. (ROA 262). A few months later, on September 11, 2006, Gilliard saw Dr. William Scott of Crossroad Family Practice. (ROA 544). He complained of shortness of breath and wheezing when walking steps or with exertion. (ROA 544). He was diagnosed with cough, dyspnea and possibly asthma and was prescribed Avelox. (ROA 545). A pulmonary test on October 24, 2006 showed “moderate restriction.” (ROA 554). On November 7, 2006, Gilliard returned to Dr. Scott for a cough with clear mucus with occasional blood in the sputum; further, Gilliard had lost over 20 pounds in the previous months with little to no effort. (ROA 556) Again, pulmonary tests showed moderate restriction, and at this time, Gilliard was referred to Dr. Richard Laurens of Palmetto Pulmonary and Critical Care. (ROA 583). Dr. Laurens ordered a lung biopsy, which was performed December 5, 2006. (ROA 585). The lung biopsy was negative for sarcoidosis, but revealed ground glass opacities in his lungs. (ROA 585).

On April 16, 2007, Gilliard began seeing Dr. Huang, a pulmonologist with Duke Medical Center for interstitial lung disease. (ROA 267). Gilliard was still coughing up blood and whitish sputum at this point. (ROA 267). Gilliard told Dr. Huang that he would go into an abandoned building two or three times a week as part of his patrol. (ROA 268). Dr. Huang noted a history of environmental exposure and was concerned about chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis. (ROA 268). Gilliard was diagnosed with nonspecific interstitial pneumonitis during a return

visit on May 15, 2007. (ROA 284). On July 30, 2007, Dr. Huang diagnosed Gilliard with hypersensitivity pneumonitis. (ROA 287). By August 20, 2007, Gilliard had a pulmonary function of 52%, which was not likely to increase. (ROA 288). By May 30, 2008, Gilliard was on Duke University Medical Center's waiting list for a lung transplant. (ROA 288). He was still wheezing and oxygen dependent at home. (ROA 288).

Gilliard was hospitalized for tachycardia and followed up with Dr. Bizzell, his primary care physician, on August 28, 2008. (ROA 533). The tachycardia was most likely caused by Gilliard's severe lung disease. (ROA 533) Gilliard began seeing Dr. Catherine Chang as his local pulmonologist in December of 2008. (ROA 533) His oxygen intake was increased by March 5, 2009. (ROA 538)

Gilliard's condition continued to decline, and he passed away at his home on August 12, 2010. (ROA 416). Dr. Chang stated that she "was of the opinion, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Marvin Gilliard's death was the result of his interstitial lung disease." (ROA 321).

The 104 S. Hudson Street area had been considered by the Greenville County School District as a possible site for a new school. (ROA 383). A document called the AJ Whittenburg Proposed Site was cited at the hearing before the Commission. Its goal was to "provide a school environment supportive of learning." (ROA 315). However, the soil there was contaminated, including chemicals such as perchloroethene (PCE) (a cleaning solvent), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), elevated hydrocarbon contamination (fuel oil), and contaminated groundwater. (ROA 315). An action plan, if a school were to be built at this site, would have to include "removal of above ground fuel oil tanks, removal or containment of contaminated soil, removal of potentially hazardous materials...and a contingency plan for unforeseen sources of

contaminated soils.” (ROA 315-316). Dr. Huang understood that these chemicals were in the building that Gilliard patrolled. (ROA 177) These types of chemicals are volatile solvents and “when [they] are in the soil, [they] are in the air.” (ROA 180). This was the only document that Gilliard was able to find that listed any sort of chemicals present at the site. Once he became ill, he attempted to investigate but his emails to the City went unanswered. (ROA 308).

Argument

I. Lisa Gilliard established that her husband, Marvin Gilliard, suffered an “occupational disease” as that term is defined by S.C. Code, Ann., §42-11-10 (2013, as amended).

S.C. Code, Ann., §42-11-10 (2013, as amended), defines “occupational disease” for purposes of the presentation of a worker’s compensation claim:

"Occupational disease" means a disease arising out of and in the course of employment that is due to hazards in excess of those ordinarily incident to employment and is peculiar to the occupation in which the employee is engaged. A disease is considered an occupational disease only if caused by a hazard recognized as peculiar to a particular trade, process, occupation, or employment as a direct result of continuous exposure to the normal working conditions of that particular trade, process, occupation, or employment. In a claim for an occupational disease, the employee shall establish that the occupational disease arose directly and naturally from exposure in this State to the hazards peculiar to the particular employment by a preponderance of the evidence:

The statute specifies that a claimant must establish that the occupational disease arose . . . by a preponderance of the evidence. That standard, of course, requires the claimant, Lisa Gilliard in this case, to establish that it was more likely than not that her husband suffered with an occupational disease that lead to his death. The claimant has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers' compensation law, and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation." *Clade v. Champion Labs.*, 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1998) (citation omitted), cited with approval in *Crisp v. SouthCo., Inc.*, 738 S.E.2d 835, 401 S.C. 627 (2013)

A. From 2002 to 2004, Marvin Gilliard entered the condemned building at 104 S. Hudson Street on multiple occasions as an integral requirement of his employment with the City of Greenville's police department.

Marvin Gilliard died on August 12, 2010, from complications of his lung disease. (ROA 416). Prior to his death, he was deposed in this matter on February 22, 2008. (ROA 324). In his deposition, he testified that he began working for the City of Greenville as a police officer in 1996 in traffic patrol until moving to community patrol in 1999. (ROA 346-349). In 2002 or 2003 he was transferred to community patrol in an area of the City of Greenville known as the "Southern Side" and stayed on community patrol in that area for approximately two years. (ROA 348). He testified that during his community patrol of the Southern Side area, he would have to walk through an old abandoned building located at 104 S. Hudson Street to remove any homeless people in the building. (ROA 372). Gilliard testified that the abandoned building had been targeted for "extra patrol" because of vagrant issues. (ROA 375-376). When questioned whether he received a specific call to check on the building, he testified, "Well, I was assigned to it, so I didn't have to get a call. It was part of my job to check it every day." (ROA 375). He testified that he understood the abandoned building had once been used by a chemical company. (ROA 104).

During his patrols of the building, Gilliard testified that he would sometimes spend over an hour in the building running out homeless people and that he could be in the building several times a week, which would be days that he was on duty. (ROA 379, 386). Gilliard also testified that there would be times that he would "gas up" for duty and to do so he would go by the building. (ROA 388). If there happened to be a patrol car out front, Gilliard testified that he would stop and assist, but that when he did this he would not always call into dispatch. (ROA 388). He testified that the floor of the building was dirty, and there were steel barrel drums

throughout the building with oil or “something that looked like oil because the dirt looked oily.” (ROA 382). He also testified there was a rusted out water tank and there was white powder on the floor in areas of the building. (ROA 382).

Lisa Gilliard, Marvin Gilliard’s wife, testified at the workers’ compensation hearing held before Commissioner Derrick L. Williams, on April 26, 2011. She testified that she and Gilliard had been married for almost 15 years at the time of his death. (ROA 87). She testified that prior to 2006 he had never had any breathing or lung issues and that he was not a smoker and had been in good health until the breathing issues developed, with his only health problem being diabetes. (ROA 88, 96-109). Lisa testified that she handled the laundry for the home and remembers Gilliard’s uniforms having a different and odd smell to them when he was patrolling the “Southern Side” area. (ROA 99-100). She testified that she remembered having to use a lot of fabric softener to get the smell out and even making the comment that they should invest in a fabric softener company since she used so much to get the smell out of Gilliard’s uniforms. (ROA 99). Lisa testified that the smell would be on the uniforms several times a week. (ROA 100).

At the hearing, the City called only one witness—Gary McLaughlin. McLaughlin at that time was a Major with the Police Department of the City of Greenville, and had been employed there since 1979. McLaughlin testified that Gilliard had been a police officer for the City and had been employed on community patrol in the Southern Side area, which included 104 S. Hudson Street. (ROA 111, 113). McLaughlin testified that there were problems with vagrants at 104 S. Hudson Street. (ROA 139). He further testified that the purpose of community patrol was for the Greenville City Police Department to have more of a presence in that specific community and to provide “enhanced services.” (ROA 142).

McLaughlin testified several times one way to “capture” information about an officer’s movements is from the officer himself and that the best source of information about what an officer did on his patrol was the officer. (ROA 117).

McLaughlin testified that it is department policy for officers to call dispatch when they leave their patrol cars to take police action, which could be responding to a traffic stop, checking a suspicious person, checking a building or pursuing a perpetrator. (ROA 117). However, McLaughlin testified that as a community patrol officer, Gilliard could be on foot patrol and out of his car without taking police action. (ROA 134). He further testified that it is possible for officers, like Gilliard, to take police action while on foot patrol, such as entering an abandoned building, without calling into dispatch. (ROA 136). McLaughlin stated that Gilliard was a good and honest officer with a personnel record containing no major complaints or disciplinary actions. (ROA 136-137). McLaughlin testified that Gilliard did his job as a community officer as he should have. (ROA 137). He also testified that it was certainly possible that Gilliard did not radio in every time he was on foot patrol or checked out a building. (ROA 141). The City, through McLaughlin, proffered various data entries and logs that purported to show that Gilliard only entered the building in question on one occasion. However, McLaughlin was unable to explain inconsistencies, omissions, and errors in the computer printouts and again acknowledged that the best source of information for the location of a police officer was the officer himself. (ROA 153).

B. While in the building on Hudson Street, and at the site of the building generally, Gilliard was exposed to various toxic chemicals, which damaged his lungs and led to a diagnosis of hypersensitivity pneumonitis.

In his deposition, Gilliard testified that the floor of the building on Hudson Street was dirty, and there were steel barrel drums throughout the building with oil or “something that

looked like oil because the dirt looked oily.” (ROA 382). He also testified there was a rusted out water tank and there was white powder on the floor in areas of the building. (ROA 382). And, as noted, his wife testified that his uniforms smelled of chemicals several times a week while he was employed as a community officer on the “Southern Side.”

When Gilliard became ill, shortly after his transfer to a position as a resource officer from community patrol, he began to investigate causes for his pulmonary issues. He learned that the Greenville County School District had considered the area including 104 S. Hudson by the Greenville County School District as a possible site for a new school. (ROA 383). After requesting information from the City about the chemicals stored in the building at 104 S Hudson Street, Gilliard was given a report from the school district, which listed several chemicals that were found when the school district had done its testing of the area. (ROA 307). The report, entitled the “AJ Whittenburg Proposed Site” report, specifically identifies “Perchloroethene, (PCE), (a cleaning solvent), Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), Elevated Hydrocarbon Contamination (fuel oil) and contaminated groundwater” as soil contaminants at the site.

Ultimately, Gilliard became a patient of Dr. Yuh-Chin T. Huang, a physician at the Duke Medical University Medical Center, board certified in Internal Medicine, Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine. (ROA 162-163). Dr. Huang was also the chairman of the Environmental, Occupational and Health Steering Committee on ACCP and also for a committee of the American Pathology Society. (ROA 195). In Dr. Huang’s deposition, submitted into the record at the workers’ compensation hearing, he testified that he has done extensive work in the area of occupational and environmental lung diseases because he has a special interest in that area of practice and treats many patients with those conditions. (ROA 195-196).

Dr. Huang testified that he began treating Gilliard in April 2007. He testified that his

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