THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

APPELLATE CASE NO: 2013-001117

---

Lisa Gilliard on behalf of  
Marvin Gilliard, Deceased,  
Claimant,.....Appellant,

v.

City of Greenville,  
Employer, and Self-Insurer,  
And Hewitt, Coleman &  
Associates, Inc., TPA,  
Defendants,.....Respondents.

RECEIVED

DEC 30 2013

SC Court of Appeals

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Michael A. Farry, SC Bar No. 1964  
Bruce B. Campbell, SC Bar No. 65343  
HORTON, DRAWDY, WARD,  
MULLINAX & FARRY, P.A  
307 Pettigru St.  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. IS THE DENIAL OF A CLAIM FOR INJURY DUE TO OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WHEN THE RECORD INCLUDES EVIDENCE THAT CLAIMANT HAD LIMITED, IF ANY, EXPOSURE TO CHEMICALS AND TESTIMONY FROM BOTH PARTIES' EXPERTS THAT ANY SUCH EXPOSURE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CAUSE THE CLAIMANT'S ALLEGED OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE AND DEATH?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By Form 50 filed September 14, 2007, Marvin Gilliard ("Claimant") alleged he sustained a compensable occupational injury following his alleged exposure to toxic chemicals while employed as a police officer for the City of Greenville ("City"). By Form 51 dated April 26, 2011, the City denied that Claimant sustained a compensable injury.

On November 30, 2010, following Claimant's death, Lisa Gilliard substituted herself as a party and filed a Form 52 seeking death benefits as a result of her husband's alleged occupational disease. (R. p. 729). By Form 53 dated January 6, 2011, the City again denied that Claimant had suffered an occupational disease which caused Claimant's death. (R. p.730).

A hearing was held on April 26, 2011. In his Decision and Order filed June 20, 2011, the hearing commissioner found that Claimant suffered a compensable occupational disease resulting in his death and awarded causally related medical and survivor benefits to Lisa Gilliard. (R. p. 25).

By Form 30 dated July 1, 2011, the City requested Commission review of the hearing commissioner's order. On January 13, 2012, after oral argument, the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission issued a unanimous decision reversing the hearing commissioner's order. (R. p. 8).

By Notice of Appeal dated February 13, 2012, Ms. Gilliard appealed the Appellate Panel's Decision and Order. (R. p. 719). After oral argument, the Circuit Court denied Ms. Gilliard's appeal and affirmed the Appellate Panel. (R. p. 1).

Ms. Gilliard now appeals to the Court of Appeals.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant was a police officer for the City of Greenville from 1996 until September 5, 2007, when he retired. (R. pp. 338-339). He started out in uniform patrol and was promoted to community patrol in 1999. (R. pp. 343-346). He was assigned to an area known as Nicholtown for a few years before being moved to area he referred to as "Southern Side." (R. pp. 347-348). The Claimant worked the "Southern Side" community for a little less than two years before becoming a resource officer at J.L. Mann High School. (R. pp. 348-349, 373).

The Claimant was a community patrol officer for "Southern Side" during the 2002 and 2003 time period. (R. pp. 348, 373). According to the Claimant, as a community patrol, he was given instructions to remove the "homeless people" from a building located at 104 South Hudson Street (hereinafter referred to as the "Building"). (R. p. 372). He testified that he went into the Building "daily" because it was designated as "extra patrol." (R. pp. 375-376). According to the Claimant, the City of Greenville created paperwork to confirm that he was supposed to perform "extra patrol" of the Building on a daily basis. (R. pp. 376-378).

Claimant further testified that every time he entered the Building he would call dispatch to tell them he was leaving his patrol car to enter the Building on foot. (R. pp. 378-379). He claimed that he searched the Building every day for an hour or "maybe a little longer." (R. pp. 379-380). The Claimant testified that he did not know what, if any, substances were in the Building. (R. p. 387).

The Claimant testified that if he found someone in the Building he would either "run them off," "arrest them for trespassing," or "write a ticket." (R. pp. 380-381). If he

made an arrest or wrote a ticket, he would call dispatch again so “there would be some paper generated.” (R. p. 381).

The Claimant began having breathing problems in 1996 (R. pp. 489-556) and was diagnosed with tuberculosis in 1996. (R. pp. 489-556, 568, 569, 586, 597). These problems increased in 2006 to the point where the Claimant sought further evaluation and treatment. (R. pp. 262-265, 544-557, 268-593). Despite this history, in 2008 Claimant told his primary care physician that the “trouble with his breathing” started in June of 2006. (R. p. 518). Claimant also was examined by Dr. William Scott who referred him to Dr. Richard Laurens at Palmetto Pulmonary and Critical Care Associates. (R. pp. 544-546).

On November 30, 2006, the Claimant told Dr. Laurens that he had “no history of toxic industrial or an environmental exposure.” (R. p. 569). This was confirmed again on January 18, 2007. (R. p. 597). Because the etiology of the Claimant’s symptoms was unclear, Dr. Laurens referred the Claimant to Dr. Yuh-Chin T. Huang for evaluation of interstitial lung disease.

On April 16, 2007, the Claimant informed Dr. Huang that he went into the Building “once or twice a week for about a year and a half and his last checkup of that building was about two years ago.” (R. p. 268). This was the first mention of the Building in any of the Claimant’s medical records. The Claimant also told Dr. Huang that the fire department had later “prohibited anyone to walk into the building without respiratory protection.” (R. p. 268). Although acknowledging that the “exact etiology of the interstitial lung disease is unclear,” Dr. Huang concluded that the Claimant may have chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis based upon the Claimant’s “environmental

exposure history.” (R. p. 268).

After much testing, Dr. Huang diagnosed the Claimant as having nonspecific interstitial pneumonitis. (R. p. 284). He told the Claimant “to go and find exposure information from his city government about the building in which he had been patrolling for a few years before it was shut down.” (R. p. 284). Instead of obtaining exposure information about the Building, the Claimant obtained information about the entire A.J. Whittenburg Proposed Site, the large tract of land upon which the Building sat. ( R. pp. 176, 731, 315-316). At the Claimant’s next appointment, Dr. Huang diagnosed the Claimant as having hypersensitivity pneumonitis. (R. p. 287):

During his deposition, Dr. Huang testified that it was only after the Claimant found the report of soil contamination at the AJ Whittenburg Proposed Site that the Claimant informed him that “he went over there a few times per week to check and stayed there an hour or two, just to check on the homeless.” (R. pp. 172-174). Dr. Huang assumed these activities started in 2003 and continued for one and a half years. (R. pp. 173-174).

Everything Dr. Huang knew about the Building was provided to him by the Claimant. (R. pp. 165-175). The Claimant told Dr. Huang that the building was an old “textile mill that had something to do with fabrics” (R. p. 175) and provided him with the document entitled “AJ Whittenburg Proposed Site,” which was submitted as APA #7. Dr. Huang assumed that the chemicals listed in APA #7 were present in the Building. (R. pp. 177-178). Dr. Huang testified that he did not know that AJ Whittenburg Proposed Site was much larger than the Building and did not know whether the chemicals were actually found in the Building. (R. pp. 178-179).

Dr. Huang could not state whether the Claimant had non-specific interstitial pneumonitis or chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis. (R. pp. 180-181). Nevertheless, he opined by affidavit that Claimant's condition was "most probably caused by his intermittent repeated exposure to the chemicals found at the site of the abandoned building he patrolled as a police officer." (R. pp. 318-319).

Dr. Huang testified that his opinion was based on the assumption that Claimant was in the Building "two or three times per week, an hour or more each time" and that the chemicals listed in APA #7 were actually in the Building. (R. pp. 183-184). Dr. Huang opined, however, that if Claimant was only in the Building one time for less than thirty minutes then his condition would not have been caused by that exposure. (R. p. 184). He further opined that if the Claimant had only been in the Building five times or less, he could not state that the Claimant's condition was "most probably" causally related to the exposure. (R. p. 185).

Dr. Steven Sahn, the Director of Pulmonary, Critical Care, Allergy and Sleep Medicine at the Medical University of South Carolina, reviewed the Claimant's medical records and the opinions of Dr. Huang. Dr. Sahn concluded that the Claimant developed idiopathic non-specific interstitial pneumonitis which was not caused by "the relatively brief exposure in the building." (R. pp. 610-612). Dr. Sahn based his opinion on the Claimant being exposed approximately seventeen times, less than thirty minutes each, over a two (2) year time period. (R. pp. 610-612). The City performed an exhaustive search of its records in an attempt to verify Claimant's testimony. Major Gary McLaughlin confirmed that the Claimant was required to call in to dispatch every time he got out of his patrol car to go into the Building. (R. pp. 114-115). Major McLaughlin

further, testified that every time an officer calls in, the calls are recorded in multiple databases. (R. p. 119). Based upon the records within the City's redundant system, the Claimant was only at the address of the Building one (1) time during the relevant time period for a total of twenty-four minutes. (R. pp. 127-131). Major McLaughlin testified this one incident was captured on several databases as expected. (R. pp. 445, 446, 450-452, 453-466, 467-468, 469-488). Major McLaughlin also confirmed that although the Building was demolished in 2005, the footprint of the Building was only a small portion of the larger tract of land referred to as the "AJ Whittenburg Proposed Site." (R. pp. 116, 132-133, 731).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The substantial evidence rule of the Administrative Procedures Act governs the standard of review of a Workers' Compensation decision. Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 571 S.E.2d 92 (Ct. App. 2002); Gray v. Club Group, Ltd., 339 S.C. 173 528 S.E.2d 435 (Ct. App. 2000); Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co., 330 S.C. 242, 498 S.E.2d 650 (Ct. App. 1998). In an appeal from the Commission, the appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. Hamilton v. Bob Bennett Ford, 336 S.C. 72, 518 S.E.2d 599 (Ct. App. 1999); Stephen v. Avins Constr. Co., 324 S.C. 334, 478 S.E.2d 74 (Ct. App. 1996); S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(6)(d) (Supp. 2001); see also Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2002) (stating court may reverse or modify Commission's decision if substantial rights of appellant have been prejudiced because administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are affected by other error of law).

This court's review is limited to deciding whether the Commission's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. See Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981); Gibson v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. No. 3, 338 S.C. 510, 526 S.E.2d 725 (Ct. App. 2000); see also Lyles v. Quantum Chem. Co. (Emery), 315 S.C. 440, 434 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1993) (in reviewing decision of Workers' Compensation Commission, Court of Appeals will not set aside its findings unless they are not supported by substantial evidence or they are controlled by error of law). Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Commission reached in order to justify its action. Etheredge, 349 S.C. at 456, 562 S.E.2d at 684); Broughton v. South of the Border, 336 S.C. 488, 520 S.E.2d 634 (Ct. App. 1999).

The Commission is the ultimate fact finder in Workers' Compensation cases. Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1999). The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Commission. Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C.448, 535 S.E.2d 438 (2000); Parsons v. Georgetown Steel, 318 S.C. 63, 456 S.E.2d 366(1995); Gibson, 338 S.C. at 517, 526 S.E.2d at 729. The findings of the Commission are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence. Anderson v. Baptist Med. Ctr., 343 S.C. 487, 541 S.E.2d 526 (2001); Hicks v. Piedmont Cold Storage, Inc., 335 S.C. 46, 515 S.E.2d 532 (1999). It is not within the province of the appellate court to reverse findings of the Commission which are supported by substantial evidence. Broughton, 336 S.C. at 496, 520 S.E.2d at 637.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. IS THE DENIAL OF A CLAIM FOR INJURY DUE TO OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WHEN THE RECORD INCLUDES EVIDENCE THAT CLAIMANT HAD LIMITED, IF ANY, EXPOSURE TO CHEMICALS AND TESTIMONY FROM BOTH PARTIES' EXPERTS THAT ANY SUCH EXPOSURE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CAUSE THE CLAIMANT'S ALLEGED OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE AND DEATH?**

The Circuit Court affirmed the Full Commission's unanimous decision that Claimant failed to establish that Marvin Gilliard sustained a compensable injury by accident and/or compensable occupation disease. In doing so the Full Commission found that Claimant's evidence of exposure to chemicals was lacking in both quantity and credibility. This decision is supported by the reliable, probative and substantial evidence in the record and must be affirmed as a matter of law.

S.C. Code Ann. 42-1-160(A) provides that for an injury to be compensable under the Act, it must "aris[e] out of and in the course of employment." "An injury arises out of employment when there is apparent to the rational mind, upon consideration of all the circumstances, a causal relationship between the conditions under which the work is to be performed and the resulting injury." Rodney v. Michelin Tire Corp., 320 S.C. 515, 518, 466 S.E.2d 357, 358 (1996)(citation omitted). "Whether there is any causal connection between employment and an injury is a question of fact for the Commission." Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 431, 645 S.E.2d 424, 436 (2007). A Claimant must prove facts that bring his injury within the workers' compensation law, and such award must not be based on "surmise, conjecture or speculation." Clade v. Champion Labs., 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1998) (citation omitted).

Claimant testified in his deposition that he went into the Building "daily" and that every time he went to the Building he called Dispatch to advise he was leaving his patrol vehicle. (R. p. 375-376, 378-379). The City confirmed at trial that this was the proper procedure and further that the City maintains redundant computer records which capture the activity of its officers when they call Dispatch to advise they are outside of their patrol vehicle. These records are kept by the City by address or location, by date and time, and by the name of the officer involved. Based upon the City's records, the Claimant was only at the address of the Building one time during the relevant time period for a total of twenty-four minutes. (R. pp. 127-131). Major McLaughlin testified that this lone entry into the Building was captured on several databases as expected. (R. pp. 445, 446, 450-452, 453-466, 467-468, 469-488).

The Commission is the ultimate fact finder in a workers' compensation case. Shealy, supra. In determining whether substantial evidence exists, the Court of Appeals is not "to balance objective against subjective findings of medical witnesses, or to weigh the testimony of one witness against that of another. That function belongs to the Appellate Panel alone." Potter v. Spartanburg School District 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 717 S.E.2d 123, 126 (quoting Roper v. Kimbrell's of Greenville, 231 S.C. 453, 461, 99 S.E.2d 52, 57 (1957)). The Appellate Panel, in weighing the evidence and determining credibility, found that the Claimant did not enter the Building on a daily basis contrary to his testimony. Noting that the Claimant's representations as to the frequency and duration of his exposure to the subject Building changed over time, the Appellate Panel determined that the redundant records kept by the City were more credible than the Claimant's testimony. (R. p. 19).

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